RECEIVED

04-27-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015-AP-2638-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs-

VICTORIA WARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ROBERT J. EDDINGTON State Bar No. 1078868 250 E. Wisconsin Avenue #1800 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-347-5639 rje@eddingtonlawoffice.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Was trial counsel's attempted impeachment of a key State witness's contradictory trial testimony erroneously excluded on hearsay grounds where the evidence was not being offered for the truth of the matters asserted and where credibility of the witnesses was the key issue upon which a reasonable doubt turned in this case?

The trial court answered no.

II. Was Ward entitled to an evidentiary hearing on her claims of ineffective assistance of counsel based on her allegations that trial counsel failed adequately to impeach a key State witness's contradictory trial testimony in a case where credibility of the witnesses was the key issue upon which a reasonable doubt turned in this case?

The trial court answered no.

III. Was the admission of evidence of a weapon under Ward's mattress erroneously admitted at trial where any probative value it might have had was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

The trial court answered no.

IV. Should the judgment of conviction and orders denying postconviction relief be reversed and a new trial ordered pursuant to this Court's broad power of discretionary reversal because the real controversy in

this case has not been fully tried and because justice has miscarried?

The trial court did not address this argument.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The central issues raised by this appeal involve application of established law to the facts of this case, and therefore, publication is not likely necessary. The issues raised in this appeal are likely to be adequately addressed in the briefs submitted by the parties to this action. Therefore, oral argument is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant-Appellant Victoria Ward was convicted following a two-day jury trial on two felony counts: (1) possession of heroin with intent to deliver and (2) keeping a drug house, both as party to a crime. The State's case against Ward depended on the testimony of its law enforcement officer witnesses. Ward testified at trial in her defense. Each party offered very different versions of facts relating to Ward's lack of knowledge of the existence of drugs and drug-related activities in her apartment. As a result, Ward's guilt or innocence depended on which version of the facts the jury believed.

In this "he-said-she-said" case, one of the key State's witnesses gave contradictory testimony on two different occasions (once at the preliminary hearing and once at trial) concerning of his whereabouts during the critical time surrounding a search of Ward's apartment. Because a person cannot be in two places at once, both versions of the officer's

testimony could not have been true, and the officer's propensity for testifying inconsistently should have been brought to the jury's attention.

Notwithstanding, an erroneous evidentiary ruling by the trial court, coupled with Ward's defense attorney's ineffective assistance of counsel, prevented the jury from considering the officer's inconsistent testimony in this case. Additionally, the trial court's erroneous admission of unfairly prejudicial evidence further denied Ward a fair trial. The effect of these errors, either individually or cumulatively, wholly undermines the outcome of this case, making reversal by this Court the appropriate remedy.

A. Law Enforcement Investigation Into Ward's Uncle And Mother Leads To Charges Against Ward.

In February 2013, law enforcement officers were involved in a narcotics investigation of Anthony Freeman and Caroline Miller, who were brother and sister and Ward's uncle and mother. (R.67, App. 207-08 at 29:9-31:6). Law enforcement believed that Mr. Freeman and Ms. Miller were involved in unlawful drug dealing. (*Id.*, App. 207 at 29:14-22). Law enforcement believed that Ms. Miller's house was a so-called "target house"—a location from which drugs could be purchased. (*Id.* at 29:23-25). It was also believed that Ward's apartment was a so-called "stash house"—a location where drugs and drug money might be stored. (*Id.*, App. 208 at 30:4-31:6).

Although Ward was not the original target of the investigation, on the morning of February 15, 2013, police officers questioned her regarding whether she knew anything about drugs in her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 208-09 at 33:4-

34:23). A search of Ward's apartment was also conducted. (*Id.*, App. 209 at 35:2-18; R.60, App. 155 at 18:20-24; *Id.*, App. 166-68 at 33:11-35:20). During the search, heroin was recovered in Ward's closet, and a firearm was recovered. (R.68, App. 219 at 4:24-5:8). The recovery of these items led to the charges against Ward. (R.4).

B. The State Relies On The Testimony Of Corporal Zientek At The Preliminary Hearing.

The circuit court conducted a preliminary hearing at which the State called Corporal Jeffrey Zientek—a canine handler for the City of West Allis. (R.56, App. 143 at 4:8-12). At the preliminary hearing, Zientek gave the first of two markedly inconsistent versions of facts to which he would testify during these proceedings.

At the preliminary hearing, Zientek testified that he and the other police officers arrived at Ward's apartment building at the same time, met in the lobby of that building, and took the elevator up to the fourth floor. (*Id.*, App. 149 at 10:22-25). Zientek testified that upon arriving at Ward's apartment: "we made contact with the occupants inside that apartment." (*Id.*, App. 144 at 5:2-5). That contact with Ward took place outside her apartment door after she came out of her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 150 at 11:6-9).

Zientek also testified to hearing a conversation between Officer Stachula and Ward during which Ward purportedly gave permission to search her residence. (*Id.*, App. 144-45 at 5:24-6:12). Corporal Zientek testified that, following this conversation:

We left the hallway because of the – the people in there, and she asked us to step inside due to the neighbors, at which point, Detective Stachula engaged in a conversation with her in her bedroom. And at that point, he requested permission to search her residence with a canine, and she agreed.

(*Id.*, App. 145 at 6:6-12). Before leaving the hallway, Zientek purportedly overheard a conversation between Officer Stachula and Ward in which he claimed Ward stated that if Mr. Freeman "was engaged in drugs, more than likely, they would be hidden in a closet." (*Id.*, App. 147 at 8:5-14).

C. The Trial Court Denies Ward's Motion To Suppress Noting That The Case Turns On Credibility And Finding The Officers' Testimony More Credible.

The circuit court heard a vigorously contested suppression motion arising out of the search of Ward's apartment that followed. At the hearing, both sides offered diametrically opposed versions of the key facts.

1. Law enforcement testifies to a "matter of fact" encounter with Ward.

Officer Stachula contended that an officer knocked on the door of Ward's apartment and that their interaction was "nothing aggressive" and "more matter of fact." (R.60, App. 153 at 16:20-21; *Id.*, App. 157 at 20:3-4). Although one officer had drawn a rifle and another officer had drawn a handgun, according to the police, the firearms were pointed at

¹ The suppression motion was heard on September 25, 2013 and decided by Reserve Judge Michael Skwierawski. (R.60, App. 151; R.61, App. 172).

a downward angle in a "low-ready" position. (*Id.*, App. 158 at 21:4-17).

After conducting a "protective sweep" to look for Anthony Freeman, police officers questioned Ward in the hallway of her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 155 at 18:20-24; *Id.*, App. 160-62 at 23:11-25:6). The police contended that Ward indicated that there was a firearm in her apartment that belonged to her boyfriend who was incarcerated. (*Id.*, App. 160 at 23:14-22). Officer Stachula also testified that Ward supposedly indicated that there "could be" some drugs in her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 161 at 24:7-9). Following this conversation, Officer Stachula contended that the police obtained consent for a search from Ward, and that they all "casually" walked into the apartment. (*Id.*, App. 162 at 25:1-3).

Officer Stachula also testified that Corporal Zientek (who had previously testified that he was with Officer Stachula outside Ward's apartment), had remained outside to monitor the balcony. (*Id.*, App. 153 at 16:16-19), even though his report reflected that Zientek had been present for the initial contact and made no mention of the balcony. (*Id.*, App. 169-71 at 52:14-54:7).

Once inside the apartment, Officer Stachula and Ward had a conversation. According to the officer, in response to a question regarding whether there were drugs in the apartment, Ward purportedly made a so-called "target glance" to her bedroom closet. (*Id.*, App. 163-64 at 30:8-31:8). Corporal Zientek conducted a search with the help of his canine partner and recovered heroin in a boot located in the closet of Ward's apartment. (*Id.*, App. 166-68 at 33:11-35:20). A firearm was also found under the mattress of the bed in her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 168 at 35:13-14).

2. Ward testifies to a hostile encounter with law enforcement during which she was forcibly dragged into the hallway at gunpoint and interrogated aggressively.

Ward's version of events differed dramatically from that of the officers. Ward testified that she was in her apartment in her pajamas with her younger brother and sister who were 12 and 11 years old on the morning the search took place. (R.61, App. 175 at 8:2-4). When police officers knocked on her apartment door, she opened the door to find an assault rifle pointed at her head. (Id., App. 174-76 at 7:23-9:3). Ward testified that she was pulled out of her apartment by her arm into the hallway, while the other officers went into her apartment. (Id., App. 176 at 9:9-12). Ward explained that while she was in the hallway she "was crying the majority of the time..." (*Id.*, App. 178-79 at 11:25-12:1). While she admitted that there was a firearm located in her apartment, she told Officer Stachula that there should not be any drugs located in her apartment. (Id., App. 180 at 15:19-16). During this questioning, Corporal Zientek and Officer Stachula were both present. (*Id.*, App. 181 at 16:11-25).

Once inside the apartment, Ward, Officer Stachula, and Corporal Zientek went into Ward's bedroom. (*Id.*, App. 183-84 at 18:24-19:4). Ward sat on the bed and responded to Officer Stachula's questions. (*Id.*, App. 184-85 at 19:24-20:8). In response to Officer Stachula's questions about whether there were illegal drugs in the apartment, Ward responded that she did *not* know that anything was in her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 186 at 21:9-18). When the officer asked "if anyone was to hide anything in your apartment, where would it be," Ward responded "the only hiding spot would be my closet," and then "looked into [her] closet

because it was dirty and [she] knew [the officers] were about to search it." (*Id.*, App. 186 at 21:9-18).

After hearing the testimony from Officer Stachula and Ward, the court below acknowledged the "diametrically opposed positions...between the testimony of the defendant and testimony of police officers about what happen[ed] at the scene..." (*Id.*, App. 193 at 64:11-21). The court noted that the outcome depended on "[w]hat version of these facts is believable...." (*Id.* at 64:22-25). The court found Officer Stachula's testimony more credible and, thus, denied the motion to suppress. (*Id.*, App. 194 at 68:15-20).

- D. The State's Case At Trial Depends On The Credibility Of Its Law Enforcement Witnesses.
 - 1. The circuit court questions defense counsel's effectiveness in failing to prepare sufficiently for possible impeachment.

With the suppression motion decided, the case proceeded to trial, which began on December 4, 2013 (R.66, App. 201). Prior to the start of *voir dire*, the Court admonished defense counsel for requesting that the State's witnesses remain available for the following day in the event counsel did not receive transcripts of the suppression hearing (over two months earlier) for possible impeachment purposes. (*Id.*, App. 202-03 at 2:10-3:4).

The Court questioned trial counsel's lack of preparation for impeachment, noting on the record that it had "a question right now about effectiveness..." (*Id.*, App. 204 at 4:7-8). The court below also admonished that "[e]ffective

representation probably would have had those transcripts in hand by the final pretrial date." (*Id.*, App. 203 at 3:16-18).

2. Corporal Zientek changes his trial testimony regarding his whereabouts during the critical time surrounding the search of Ward's apartment.

The State's case at trial again relied on the testimony of law enforcement officers. Officer Stachula (who testified at the suppression motion), testified at trial that he questioned Ward about the presence of illegal drugs in the apartment and contended that Ward said that someone possibly might be hiding drugs inside her apartment. (R.67, App. 209 at 34:8-16). Officer Stachula again testified that Ward made a so-called "target glance" at her closet, which the officer interpreted as a sign that she was hiding something in her closet. (*Id.*, App. 209-10 at 37:6-38:13). Officer Stachula also contended that Ward admitted that drugs "could possibly be in a shoe in the closet." (*Id.*, App. 210 at 38:8-15).

When the State called Corporal Zientek (who had previously testified at the preliminary hearing), the officer offered contradictory trial testimony regarding his whereabouts. Contrary to his earlier testimony (*see, supra,* at B), Zientek testified at trial that he "did *not* make initial contact" with Ward at her apartment on February 15, 2013. (R.67, App. 214 at 87:21-24) (emphasis added). Rather than going up in the elevator with the other officers as he initially testified, Zientek claimed for the first time at trial that he was instead "advised to stand out in the front parking lot to watch the balcony on the fourth floor of [the] apartment in question." (*Id.*, App. 214 at 88:2-5; R.68, App. 220 at 15:3-4). Officer Stachula also claimed at trial, as he did at the suppression hearing, that Corporal Zientek was outside

observing the balcony of the apartment building, rather than in the hallway as Zientek had originally testified. (R.67, App. 211 at 43:9-18; R.60, App. 153 at 16:16-19; *Id.*, App. 169-71 at 52:14-54:7).

Although he had previously testified to being present and overhearing a conversation between Ward and Officer Stachula in the hallway, at trial Zientek claimed instead that he overheard the conversation "once we were *inside* the apartment…" (R.68, App. 220 at 15:13-15) (emphasis added).

The State elicited extensive testimony from Zientek regarding his qualifications and experience. (R.67, App. 212 at 78:1-80:15). Zientek explained at trial how his canine partner, Sonny, searched both the outside and inside of Ward's apartment and how the dog alerted in Ward's closet. (*Id.*, App. 213-15 at 85:23-91:19). The State also used Zientek to describe the appearance of the inside of Ward's closet, the shoe in which the drugs were purportedly found, and the recovery of the drugs in question. (*Id.*, App. 215-17 at 90:9-99:12). The State used Zientek to authenticate two photographs (Trial Exhibits 6 and 7) supposedly showing the condition of the inside of Ward's closet and of the boot recovered therein. (*Id.*, App. 215-16 at 93:5-94:17).

Finally, the State relied on the testimony of Officer Bodo Gajevic. Although Officer Gajevic was not involved in the investigation in this case (R.68, App. 224 at 35:3-6), the officer testified about the quantity of narcotics typically associated with personal or resale use. (*Id.*, App. 221 at 25:1-12; *Id.*, App. 222-23 at 29:18-30:6). Officer Gajevic also testified about the existence of a supposed "mule system" used by traffickers in which some individuals may allow

family members to use their vehicle or residence to sell narcotics. (*Id.*, App. 223 at 33:4-21; *Id.*, App. 225 at 42:19-43:22).

E. The Trial Court Twice Sustained The State's Objection To Defense Counsel's Attempt to Impeach Corporal Zientek.

In light of the stark differences between Corporal Zientek's preliminary hearing testimony and his trial testimony, defense counsel attempted to impeach his testimony to undermine his credibility to the jury. (R.68, App. 220 at 16:16-17). When trial counsel twice attempted to ask what Corporal Zientek heard Ward say, the Court sustained the State's objection on hearsay grounds. (*Id.* at 16:6-18).

Trial counsel explained in an offer of proof that he asked these questions "to impeach the former officer's testimony." (*Id.* at 16:16-17; *Id.*, App. 226 at 52:23-53:6). The court below explained the reason it excluded the testimony, noting that defense counsel had not asked whether Corporal Zientek had previously testified inconsistently, but rather asked him to testify to the contents of a conversation. (*Id.*, App. 226-27 at 52:23-54:14). The circuit court clarified, "[y]ou are asserting that somebody else said something else, so that is where the problem comes in; at that point, it is hearsay and it can't be used." (*Id.*, App. 226 at 53:14-17).

The trial court did not excuse Zientek following his testimony and noted that he still remained available should the need arise. (*Id.*, App. 228 at 59:20-22). Defense counsel made no further attempt to recall Zientek or discredit his contradictory trial testimony.

F. The Defense Case Relies Exclusively On Ward's Testimony.

Victoria Ward was the only witness for the defense. (R.68, App. 228 at 60:1-2). Like at the suppression hearing, Ward's version of events differed greatly from that of the State's law enforcement witnesses.

Ward testified that her uncle Anthony Freeman—who had been the initial target of the investigation—did not have a key to her apartment, and that she would not allow him to do anything illegal in the apartment. (*Id.*, App. 229 at 63:12-64:4). She testified that she did not tell Mr. Freeman or allow him to bring drugs into her apartment. (*Id.*, at 64:9-13).

Ward acknowledged that she told Officer Stachula that a firearm was in her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 232-33 at 81:22-82:7). However, she testified that she did *not* tell Officer Stachula that there were drugs in the apartment, nor did she tell him that she suspected that Mr. Freeman had placed drugs in her apartment. (*Id.*, App. 230 at 72:11-16). Once she and the officers were inside the apartment, Officer Stachula said that she was a target, and she became concerned about the officers searching her house and her closet. (*Id.*, App. 231 at 76:5-9). Ward was concerned because she had her underwear and nightclothes on the floor of the closet. (*Id.* at 76:10-20).

She also explained that her comment about her closet was that she had "such an open apartment" that "the only thing that is really closed off is [her] closet." (*Id.*, App. 231 at 76:24-77:4). However, she testified that she did not say that drugs could be hidden within a shoe—only that "if anything would be hidden in my home it could possibly be in

the closet because it's the only closed in place." (*Id.*, App. 232 at 80:19-25).

G. The State Argues For The Credibility Of Its Witnesses During Closing Arguments.

During closing arguments, the State acknowledged that Ward's purported knowledge of the drugs and activities in her apartment was "[t]he big issue here..." (R.69, App. 236 at 23:22-23). In making its argument, the State focused extensively on credibility of the witnesses, arguing to the jury that the officers' testimony should be believed because "they have no stake in this case." (R.69, App. 240-41 at 27:8-28:25). In bolstering the credibility of its witnesses, the State cited Zientek's trial testimony regarding his qualifications and experience. (*Id.*, App. 241 at 28:8-16).

On the other hand, the State argued that the defendant did purportedly "have an interest in this case," and that her testimony should not be believed. (*Id.* at 28:17-25). In attacking Ward's credibility, the State also relied on Ward's statements about the firearm under the mattress of her bed. (*Id.*, App. 237-38 at 24:22-25:9). The State also argued to the jury that the evidence relating to the supposed appearance of Ward's closet was "the most important reason why Ward knows that these drugs are there and is doing this knowingly...." (*Id.*, App. 238 at 25:24-26:1).

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