RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-05-2016**

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP2638-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

VICTORIA M. WARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND TWO ORDERS DENYING MOTIONS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ALL FILED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly entered judgment of conviction and properly denied Ward's motion for postconviction relief.

On appeal, Ward raises four issues. She argues that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in excluding evidence at trial as inadmissible hearsay; her trial counsel was ineffective for not adequately impeaching a witness at trial, Corporal Zientek, about inconsistencies between his testimony at the preliminary hearing and his trial testimony and that she was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the issue; that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in admitting evidence regarding the firearm found under her mattress; and that she is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice. (Ward's Br. 1-2.) As the State will explain, the circuit court properly rejected Ward's ineffective assistance claim, and properly admitted evidence of the firearm, and Ward is not entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice. A. The circuit court properly excluded evidence of what Corporal Zientek overheard during a conversation between Detective Stachula and Ward.

In her supplemental motion for postconviction relief, Ward argued that she is entitled to a new trial because the circuit court erroneously excluded evidence at trial as inadmissible hearsay. (42:15-17.) Ward referred to two questions her trial counsel asked on cross-examination of Corporal Zientek. The trial court sustained the State's objections to the questions as hearsay. The exchange was as follows:

Q: That portion of conversation you overheard between Ms. Ward and Detective Stachula, Ms. Ward said that --

[THE PROSECUTOR]: I'm going to object on grounds of hearsay.

[THE COURT]: Sustained.

Q: Did you overhear the conversation between Ms. Ward and the detective?

A: Just bits and pieces.

Q: Did you ever see or hear Ms. Ward say that - -

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Objection, hearsay.

[THE COURT]: Sustained.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Your Honor, it is to impeach the former's officer's testimony.

[THE COURT]: sustained, hearsay.

(68:16.)

In its decision denying Ward's supplemental motion for postconviction relief, the circuit court rejected Ward's claim, concluding that Ward could not show that any error made any difference at trial. (52:4-5.)

On appeal, Ward argues that the trial court erred in sustaining the prosecutor's objections on hearsay grounds. She claims that she was not seeking to admit hearsay, as Ward's statement was not being offered for its truth. She explains that "it did not matter what Ward actually said or did not say. What mattered was whether Corporal Zientek testified that he had ever heard a conversation in the hallway (as he originally testified), or only inside Ward's apartment (as he later testified)." (Ward's Br. 20-21.) Ward adds that "Zientek's response would have permitted defense counsel to confront the witness with his prior inconsistent testimony." (Ward's Br. 21.)

Ward's argument fails because her defense counsel was not asking Corporal Zientek if he had ever heard a conversation in the hallway or if the only conversation he overheard was in the hallway. Counsel asked Corporal Zientek what he heard Ward tell Detective Stachula in the apartment.

At trial, defense Counsel asked Corporal Zientek, "Did you overhear a conversation from -- between Detective Stachula and Ms. Ward? (68:15.) Corporal Zientek answered, Once we were inside the apartment, yes. (68:15.) Counsel asked, "Where was that conversation taking place?" (68:15.) Corporal Zientek answered, "Inside by her, like, the bedroom area." (68:15.)

In the questions that are at issue on appeal, Ward's trial counsel did not ask Corporal Zientek if he heard Ward

and Detective Stachula talking in the hallway outside her apartment. Counsel did not ask if Corporal Zientek had testified at the preliminary hearing that he overheard a conversation between Ward and Detective Stachula in the hallway. Instead, Ward's counsel asked Corporal Zientek if he overheard the conversation between Ward and Detective Stachula, and then asked what Ward said.

Corporal Zientek's answer to counsel's question would not have had any bearing on whether he heard a conversation in the hallway, because that is not what he was asked. He was asked if he heard a conversation, and he affirmed that he did, inside the apartment. He was then asked what Ward said.

The court properly sustained the prosecutor's objection because the answer Corporal Zientek would have given would have been hearsay.

Because the trial court properly sustained the State's objections to the two questions asked by Ward's trial counsel, this court need not address Ward's argument that the exclusion of the evidence was not harmless error, or her argument that it denied her due process.

B. The circuit court properly denied Ward's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without an evidentiary hearing.

In her supplemental motion for postconviction relief, Ward asserted that her trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by not adequately impeaching Corporal Zientek about inconsistencies between his testimony at the preliminary hearing and his testimony at trial. (42:10-14.) The circuit court denied Ward's claim without a hearing, concluding that even if Ward showed that her trial counsel performed deficiently, she did not prove that the deficient performance caused prejudice. The court concluded that "any effort at impeachment on the part of counsel would not have been reasonably probable to alter the result of the trial." (52:4.)

On appeal, Ward argues that the circuit court erred in denying her claim without first holding an evidentiary hearing. (Ward's Br. 29-34.)

As the State will explain, the circuit court properly denied Ward's claim without an evidentiary hearing, and its decision should be affirmed.

1. Applicable legal principles and standard of review.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, "[a] defendant must prove both that his or her attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance was prejudicial." State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). To prove deficient performance, a defendant must prove that counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Id. (citations omitted).

To prove prejudice, a defendant must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's error, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* (citing *State v. Guerard*, 2004 WI 85, ¶ 43, 273 Wis. 2d 250, 682 N.W.2d 12). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* (citations omitted).

The denied Ward's circuit court motion for postconviction relief without holding a hearing. An appellate court reviews a court's decision denying a motion without a hearing under a mixed standard of review. Allen. 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 9. A court determines de novo "whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief." Id. (citing State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309-10, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)). "If the motion raises such facts, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing." Id. (citing Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 310, Nelson v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972)). But "if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a hearing." Id. (citing Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 310-11; Nelson, 54 Wis. 2d at 497-98). The court's decision to deny the motion without a hearing is reviewed "under the deferential erroneous is exercise of discretion standard." Id. (citations omitted).

> 2. The circuit court properly denied Ward's ineffective assistance claim without a hearing because the record conclusively demonstrates that she is not entitled to relief.

Ward's ineffective assistance claim is based on her allegation that her trial counsel failed to adequately impeach Corporal Zientek at trial. Ward argued in her supplemental motion for postconviction relief, and now argues on appeal, that Corporal Zientek's testimony at trial was inconsistent with his testimony at the preliminary hearing in regard to whether he was present when Detective Stachula and other officers initially made contact with Ward. At the preliminary hearing, Corporal Zientek testified that when he and the other officers arrived at Ward's apartment building, they all rode the elevator up to the fourth floor, and that he was present when Detective Stachula conversed with Ward about her uncle, Anthony Freeman, who the target of the investigation. (56:5-6, 10-11.)

At trial, Corporal Zientek testified that when he arrived at the apartment building, he was advised to wait outside and watch the balcony, to observe whether any contraband was thrown out of the apartment. (67:87-88.) He also testified that he did not overhear a conversation between Detective Stachula and Ward until they were all in the apartment. (68:15.)

Ward also argues that Corporal Zientek's testimony differed as to whether he overheard Detective Stachula and Ward have a conversation in which Ward said that if there were drugs in her apartment, they would likely be in her bedroom closet. Ward argues that at the preliminary hearing, Corporal Zientek said that he heard Ward tell Detective Stachula that if her uncle, Anthony Freeman were engaged in drugs, more than likely the drugs would be in her bedroom closet. (Ward's Br. 19.) Ward claims that Corporal Zientek's trial testimony was inconsistent because he said he only overheard a conversation between Detective Stachula and Ward once they were inside the apartment. (Ward's Br. 19.)

In its decision denying Ward's motion for postconviction relief, the circuit court acknowledged the inconsistency in Corporal Zientek's testimony about where he was when contact was initially made with Ward. (52:3-4.) The court concluded that "it is possible that posing further questions to Corporal Zientek about his whereabouts could have resulted in the successful impeachment of his testimony." (52:3.) But the court concluded that "even if some amount of impeachment had been pursued or accomplished, there is not a reasonable probability of a different result." (52:4.) Notably, the court recognized that "[e]ven if Corporal Zientek's testimony could have been partially discredited about his whereabouts during the early stages of his arrival, he was nevertheless in the apartment at the crucial point with Detective Stachula, his dog Sonny, and the defendant." (52:4.)

The circuit court did not address Ward's argument that Corporal Zientek testified inconsistently regarding his overhearing the conversation between Detective Stachula and Ward inside Ward's apartment. The court seemingly recognized that Corporal Zientek's trial testimony that he overheard Ward telling Detective Stachula that if there were drugs in the apartment they likely would be in the closet, was not inconsistent with his preliminary hearing testimony.

At the preliminary hearing, Corporal Zientek testified that he, Detective Stachula, and Ward entered Ward's apartment and went into her bedroom, and that Detective Stachula got Ward's permission to search the residence. Corporal Zientek testified that Ward told Detective Stachula that there was a gun underneath her mattress, and "if there was any narcotics in the bedroom, they would be located inside her closet." Corporal Zientek testified that he obtained his canine, who alerted on the closet, and officers recovered "a substantial amount of heroin." (56:7.) The prosecutor then asked Corporal Zientek about a conversation he overheard in Ward's bedroom, in following exchange:

Q: Did you overhear a conversation in the bedroom between Detective Stachula and the defendant regarding the target, Antonio Freeman?

A: Yes.

Q: And what was the -- What were the contents of that conversation?

A: Detective Stachula asked her if she allows Anthony Freeman to live with her. She stated, No, that he does come to the house, and she stated that she did not have any knowledge as to any kind of drug activity, but if he was engaged in drugs, more than likely, they would be hidden in a closet.

(56:7-8.)

Ward seems to argue that Corporal Zientek's testimony at trial was inconsistent with this testimony because at the preliminary hearing because at trial he said that he only overheard a conversation between Detective Stachula, and Ward inside the apartment. But Corporal Zientek's trial testimony about overhearing Ward tell Detective Stachula that if there were drugs in the apartment they would likely be in the closet, was not at all inconsistent with his testimony at the preliminary hearing.

At trial, the prosecutor did not ask Corporal Zientek about overhearing the conversation. On cross-examination, Ward's defense counsel asked if he overheard a conversation. Corporal Zientek answered, "Once we were inside the apartment, yes." (68:15.) He added that the conversation occurred "[i]nside by her, like, bedroom area."(68:15.) When defense counsel then asked, "That portion of the conversation you overheard between Ms. Ward and Detective Stachula, Ms. Ward said that --." (68:16.) After an objection was sustained on hearsay grounds, defense counsel asked, "Did you overhear the conversation between Ms. Ward and the detective," and Corporal Zientek answered, "Just bits and pieces." (68:16.) When defense counsel asked, "Did you ever see or hear Ms. Ward say that--" the court sustained another objection on hearsay grounds. (68:16.)

Corporal Zientek's testimony regarding overhearing the conversation between Detective Stachula and Ward was not at all inconsistent. He testified both times that he overheard the conversation inside the apartment, in or near the bedroom.

As the circuit court recognized, the inconsistent testimony concerned only where Corporal Zientek was when Detective Stachula and other officers initiated contact with Ward. The court acknowledged that defense counsel could have impeached Corporal Zientek with the inconsistency, but it concluded that counsel was not ineffective for failing to do so, because impeachment would not have made a different result reasonably probable.

On appeal, Ward argues that her trial counsel's failure to impeach Corporal Zientek resulted in prejudice. (Ward's Br. 33-34.) He asserts that "Corporal Zientek's trial testimony differed dramatically from his preliminary hearing testimony concerning, inter alia, his whereabouts during the moments surrounding Ward's interactions with law enforcement. Because Corporal Zientek could not be in two places at the same time, both versions of his sworn testimony could not possibly be true." (Ward's Br. 32.) As explained above, Corporal Zientek's testimony was inconsistent only in regard to where he was when officers first made contact with Ward. His trial testimony was not at all inconsistent with his preliminary hearing testimony in regard to later being in the apartment and overhearing Ward tell Detective Stachula that if drugs were in her apartment, they likely would be in the closet. And at trial, Corporal Zientek was not even asked on direct examination about overhearing Ward's statement. The only testimony from Corporal Zientek that the jury heard that was inconsistent with his preliminary hearing testimony concerned where he was when officers first contacted Ward.

Ward does not explain why, if her trial counsel had impeached Corporal Zientek about that inconsistency, the jury would have disbelieved all of Corporal Zientek's testimony—including his testimony about his canine partner searching the closet and finding heroin in a boot.

Ward also does not explain why if her trial counsel had impeached Corporal Zientek with his inconsistent testimony regarding where he was when officers first made contact with Ward, the jury would have disbelieved the testimony of Detective Stachula.

Ward argues that "[b]ecause credibility was so central to this case, and because Officer Stachula purported to corroborate the Corporal's inconsistent testimony, impeachment of the Corporal would not just have undermined his testimony, but also that of Officer Stachula." (Ward's Br. 23.)

But Ward does not point to any instance of Detective Stachula "purport[ing] to corroborate" Corporal Zientek's "inconsistent testimony." Detective Stachula testified at trial that Corporal Zientek was outside when he initially spoke to Ward, but that he later entered the apartment. (67:43.) He said that he spoke to Ward when she was in her bedroom, and Corporal Zientek was present. (67:36.)

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